
Meeting Cabinet (Leisure Centre) Committee

Date and Time Monday, 11th February, 2019 at 4.30 pm.

Venue Walton Suite, Guildhall, Winchester

AGENDA

PROCEDURAL ITEMS 

1.  Apologies 
To record the names of apologies given.

2.  Disclosure of Interests 
To receive any disclosure of interests from Members and Officers in matters to 
be discussed.
Note: Councillors are reminded of their obligations to declare disclosable 
pecuniary interests, personal and/or prejudicial interests in accordance 
with legislation and the Council’s Code of Conduct.

3.  To note any request from Councillors to make representations on an 
agenda item under Council Procedure Rule 35. 
Note: Councillors wishing to speak about a particular agenda item are 
requested to advise the Democratic Services Officer before the meeting.  
Councillors will normally be invited by the Chairman to speak immediately prior 
to the appropriate item.

4.  Minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 January 2019, less exempt 
minute (Pages 5 - 10)

5.  Public Participation 
– to receive and note questions asked and statements made from members 
of the public on issues relating to the responsibility of this Committee (see 
note overleaf).

Public Document Pack



BUSINESS ITEMS 

6.  Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre - Full Business Case (less exempt 
appendix) (Pages 11 - 34)

Key Decision (CAB3082(LC))

7.  To have regard to any comments from The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to be held 4 February 2019 (to follow) 

8.  EXEMPT BUSINESS: 
To consider whether in all the circumstances of the case the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

(i) To pass a resolution that the public be excluded from the meeting 
during the consideration of the following items of business because it is 
likely that, if members of the public were present, there would be 
disclosure to them of ‘exempt information’ as defined by Section 100 (I) 
and Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

9.  Exempt minute of the previous meeting held 14 January 2019 (Pages 35 
- 36)

10.  Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre - Full Business Case (exempt 
appendix) (Pages 37 - 88)

L Hall
Head of Legal Services (Interim)

Members of the public are able to easily access all of the papers 
for this meeting by opening the QR Code reader on your phone 
or tablet. Hold your device over the QR Code below so that it's 
clearly visible within your screen and you will be redirected to the 
agenda pack.

1 February 2019

Agenda Contact: Nancy Graham, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01962 848235   Email: ngraham@winchester.gov.uk



Membership 2018/19

Chairman: Griffiths (Portfolio Holder for Health & Wellbeing)
Ashton
Warwick

Deputy: Brook

Non-Voting Invited representatives

Councillors Huxstep, Laming, Prince and Stallard

Councillors McLean (Non-voting Deputy) and Porter (Non-voting Deputy)

In the event of any of the standing or deputy or deputy member not being available 
for a particular meeting, another member of Cabinet will be selected in alphabetical 
rotation by the Legal Services Manager to substitute for the standing member.

Quorum = 3 members

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
Public Participation is at the Chairman’s discretion.  If your question relates to an 
item on the agenda, you will normally be asked to speak at the time of the relevant 
item.  Representations will be limited to a maximum of 3 minutes, subject to a 
maximum 15 minutes set aside for all questions and answers.  If several people wish 
to speak on the same subject, the Chairman may ask for one person to speak on 
everyone's behalf.  As time is limited, a "first come first served" basis will be 
operated. 

To reserve your place to speak, you are asked to arrive no later than 10 minutes 
before the start of the meeting to register your intention to speak.  Please contact the 
Democratic Services Officer in advance for further details.

The names of members of the public etc  who have registered to address committee 
meetings will appear in the minutes as part of the public record, which will include on 
the Council’s website.  Those wishing to address a committee meeting who object to 
their names being made available in this way must notify the Democratic Services 
Officer either when registering to speak, or within 10 days of this meeting.

DISABLED ACCESS:
Disabled access is normally available, but please phone Democratic Services on 
01962 848 264 or email democracy@winchester.gov.uk to ensure that the necessary 
arrangements are in place.

TERMS OF REFERENCE
Included within the Council’s Constitution (Part 3, Section 2) which is available here

http://www.winchester.gov.uk/assets/attach/11853/Part%203a%20-%20Resp%20for%20functions--170518%20-NGchangesfromCabinet1.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET (LEISURE CENTRE) COMMITTEE

Monday, 14 January 2019
Attendance:

Councillors

Griffiths (Chairman)

Ashton Warwick

Other Invited Councillors:

Laming Prince

Others in attendance who addressed the meeting:

Councillor Porter

1.   DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS 

Councillors Warwick declared a disclosable pecuniary interest as she was a 
County Councillor and the County Council had awarded £1 million to the project.  
However she participated in the meeting and voted on items as below, under the 
dispensation granted by the Standards Committee.

2.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 18 SEPTEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the previous meeting held 18 September 2018, 
be approved and adopted.

3.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Four members of the public and/or representatives of local groups spoke during 
public participation and their comments are summarised below.

Emma Back (Winchester SALT) expressed concern about the economic and 
social sustainability of the new centre and uncertainty about whether local sports 
groups would have affordable access.  She also expressed concern that only 
two companies had submitted tenders for the operator contract.  She asked a 
number of detailed questions as summarised below:

 Could the new centre operate without Council subsidy and would there be 
an increase in charges?

 Did the preferred bidder have a good track record and would community 
groups have community use agreements? 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 Could community group hirers park for free?
 Would existing staff at RPLC be transferred to a new centre and what was 

the impact on Meadowside Leisure Centre?
 Would an operator accrue any tenancy or other land rights? 

Janet Berry (Highcliffe Community Forum for Action) expressed some concern 
about the proposal to offer leisure centre users’ free car parking as the 
preference should be to encourage use of public transport.  She queried whether 
the free car parking would be extended to users of KGV playing fields and the 
University Sports Stadium?  She had concerns that this would increase traffic in 
the local area and negatively impact on local residents.

Jeremy Mortimer spoke as a user of RPLC and expressed concern about the 
limited consultation with existing users.  He suggested that a User Liaison Group 
might be useful.  He stated that the majority of existing users lived within 2.5km 
of RPLC and would have significantly further to travel to the new centre and 
queried whether this had been assessed in the business case.  Had the 
requirements of young people travelling independently been assessed?  How did 
the provision of free car parking align with the emerging Movement Strategy and 
the aim to reduce car parking in Winchester?

Patrick Davies highlighted Section 8 of the report (Environmental 
Considerations) and considered this should include reference to travel to and 
from the new centre.  He also expressed some concerns about the decision to 
offer users free car parking in terms of how it would work in practice and the 
wider implications in terms of running counter to the idea of reducing reliance on 
cars.  

4.   WINCHESTER SPORT AND LEISURE CENTRE - OPERATOR 
PROCUREMENT (LESS EXEMPT APPENDIX) 
(CAB3081(LC))

At the invitation of the Chairman, Councillor Porter addressed the Committee 
and in summary, queried the rationale behind the decision to offer free car 
parking for users of the centre as this would encourage car use over public 
transport.  She also asked why the bidder was instructed to assume car parking 
would offer a nil income.

The Chairman introduced the report and welcomed to the meeting Simon 
Molden (The Sports Consultancy) who gave a presentation on the procurement 
process.  The presentation was available here. 

The Head of Programme and Mr Molden responded to the detailed questions 
raised during public participation as summarised below.  In addition, the Head of 
Programme emphasised he would also continue to respond to other questions 
from those contributing at this meeting and any others outside of the meeting.

 The contract specification included a requirement that priority would be given 
to local sports clubs where the majority of their membership lived within the 
Winchester district;

Page 6

https://democracy.winchester.gov.uk/documents/b5474/Presentation%20-%20Sport%20Leisure%20Park%20Operator%20Procurement%2014th-Jan-2019%2016.00%20Cabinet%20Leisure%20Cent.pdf?T=9


 Any subsidy requirement would be considered as part of the business case 
(due to consideration at the next Committee meeting on 11 February 2019).  

 An increase in hire charges of 15% was assumed based on last year’s 
charges.

 The current biggest users/ clubs would be given priority for community use 
agreements.

 Any user of the new centre (including group hire) would be entitled to free car 
parking.

 Income benchmarking is a standard term recommended by The Sports 
England and, whilst rarely implemented, offered protection for both parties. It 
is only activated in certain specified circumstances. RPLC existing staff had 
all been identified on a list for TUPE transfer eligibility.  

 Ongoing discussions were continued with regard to Meadowside Leisure 
Centre, including the possibility of a four court hall option.  Further details 
would be reported once available.

 The Head of Programme agreed to check with the Legal Team regarding the 
query about the possible transfer of legal rights to an operator in relation to a 
lease.

 Car parking management is to be retained by the Council. This will be 
considered very carefully bearing in mind residents concerns, the impact on 
users of the Leisure Centre and the sports pitches/ stadium and the 
relationship with near by park and ride car parking. The impact on existing 
users of a change in location had been considered carefully and results 
would be included as part of the consideration of the full business case.

 Some consultation had been undertaken with existing RPLC users and more 
would take place.  It was envisaged that, once appointed, the new operator 
would wish to undertake its own consultation.

With regard to the number of bidders, the Council had stipulated some 
challenging thresholds which might have impacted on the number of interested 
companies and discourage small companies.  However, the ultimate test was 
whether the procurement process had resulted in a bidder that the Council was 
happy with.  Mr Molden advised that he would not expect to see any more than 
three bidders for such a contract.  He believed the two bidders were both of a 
suitable size to give the Council confidence in their ability to deliver such a 
contract.

In response to Members’ questions, Mr Molden advised that there originally 
there had been five companies interested in the procurement process, three of 
whom he considered had taken a serious interest in submitting a bid.  Of these 
three, one had withdrawn because of the geographical area of operation, leaving 
the two current bidders.

With regard to the provision of car parking, the Head of Programme 
acknowledged the difficulty balancing sometimes conflicting aims.  The Council 
did not want to disadvantage existing users of the RPLC centre who might have 
to travel further to use the new centre.  However, it was also emphasised that 
the new location would mean it was within easier walking distance for some 
users.  The Council would aim to adopt an appropriate car parking regime in the 
area, including holding further discussions with local residents regarding on-
street parking.  It was a planning condition that the new operator produces a 

Page 7



travel plan, in conjunction with the Council.  Further discussions would take 
place with the County Council regarding school transport to the new centre.

The Head of Programme advised that the Council would retain control of the new 
leisure centre car park and decide on method of operation in practice.   It was 
anticipated it would operate on some form of refund system for leisure centre 
users.

In response to Members’ questions, Mr Molden advised that the letter to the 
successful bidder would make clear it was subject to approval of the full 
business case.   Letters were to be sent to both bidders as soon as possible 
after the meeting decision.  The identity of the successful bidder could not be 
made public until the elapse of a 10 calendar day standstill period from issue of 
letters. 

Cabinet moved to exempt session to discuss the matters contained within the 
exempt appendix to the report.  The meeting was advised that the exempt 
appendix gave individual scores for Bidder A and Bidder B (which were required 
to remain exempt due to commercial confidentiality) but did not reveal their 
identities.

Cabinet agreed to the following for the reasons outlined above, discussed during 
the exempt session below, and set out in the Report.

RESOLVED:

1. That the evaluation process which supports the appointment 
of the preferred Operator (Bidder B) as the preferred Leisure Centre 
Operator be endorsed.

2. That the Council entering into a management agreement 
(subject to the required standstill period and the approval of a satisfactory 
Business Case for this project in February 2019) with Bidder B to manage 
the new Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre on behalf of the Council for 
a period of 15 years from its opening and with the option (at the sole 
discretion of the Council and subject to satisfactory performance) to 
extend the contract for a further period of 5 years) be approved. 

3. That it be noted there were no response(s) to the 
advertisements under s123 (2A)  of the Local Government Act 1972  for 
the  disposal of part of the open space at the Garrison Ground by way of a 
lease to the Operator of the new Sport and Leisure Centre. 

4. That the Head of Asset Management be authorised to agree 
terms in respect of any necessary leasehold arrangements detailed below 
and subject to approval of the Full Business Case to enter into the 
leasehold arrangements as required:  

(a) with the University of Winchester in respect of the Sports Stadium and 
Artificial Grass Pitch; 

Page 8



(b) with the preferred  Operator (subject to a  satisfactory business case 
having been first  approved) in respect of the new Leisure Centre and 
the Sports Stadium and Track and  Artificial Grass Pitch;

(c) with the University of Winchester to vary the University’s existing 
lease from the Council  of a strip of land between numbers 69 and 71 
Milland Road, Winchester which serves as the vehicular and one of 
the pedestrian accesses to the Stadium; 

(d) to enter into such collateral warranties for the benefit of the preferred 
Operator as may be required by the Operator from any consultants 
and the contractor and which relate to the construction of the new 
Sport and Leisure Centre.

5.   EXEMPT BUSINESS: 

RESOLVED:

1. That in all the circumstances, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.

2. That the public be excluded from the meeting during the 
consideration of the following items of business because it is likely that, if 
members of the public were present, there would be disclosure to them of 
‘exempt information’ as defined by Section 100I and Schedule 12A to the 
Local Government Act 1972.

Minute
Number

Item Description of
Exempt Information

7 Winchester Sport & 
Leisure Centre – 
Operator Procurement 
(exempt appendix)

)
)
)
)
)
)

Information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including 
the authority holding that 
information). (Para 3 Schedule 
12A refers)

6.   WINCHESTER SPORT & LEISURE CENTRE - OPERATOR PROCUREMENT 
(EXEMPT APPENDIX) 
(CAB3081(LC))

Cabinet considered the contents of the exempt appendix to the report which 
provided further detail regarding the tender evaluation and scoring (detail in 
exempt minute).  Simon Molden and Taryn Dale (The Sports Consultancy) along 
with Olivia Burton of Mace remained in the room during the exempt discussion to 
provide response to any questions relating to the exempt appendix.  

The meeting commenced at 4.00 pm and concluded at 5.20 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



CAB3082(LC)
THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

CABINET (LEISURE CENTRE) COMMITTEE

REPORT TITLE: WINCHESTER SPORT AND LEISURE CENTRE – FULL 
BUSINESS CASE

THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 31 JANUARY 2019
CABINET (LEISURE CENTRE) COMMITTEE - 11 FEBRUARY 2019

REPORT OF PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Councillor Lisa Griffiths, Portfolio Holder for 
Health and Wellbeing 

Contact Officer:  Andy Hickman    Tel No: 01962 848105  Email 
ahickman@winchester.gov.uk

WARD(S):  ALL

PURPOSE

The Council has been considering the provision of a new Sport and Leisure 
Centre for the District for several years, and in October 2018 the Planning 
Application for the Centre at the Garrison Ground, Bar End was approved. 

During 2018, two separate procurement processes took place. The first sought to 
appoint a contractor and determine the cost for the construction of the new centre, 
whilst the second was to procure an operator for the new Centre and to identify the 
annual management fee which would be received by the Council. These are the key 
elements of the Full Business Case for the new Sport and Leisure Centre. 

This report considers the Full Business Case for the project and covers both the 
construction and long-term operation of a new Sport and Leisure Centre for the 
District.  

RECOMMENDATIONS:

It is recommended that The Overview and Scrutiny Committee: 

Note the progress made to date and considers whether to provide any comments to 
be considered by the Cabinet (Leisure Centre) Committee on 11 February 2019. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6

mailto:ahickman@winchester.gov.uk


It is recommended that Cabinet (Leisure Centre) Committee:

1. Acknowledges and notes the contents of the Full Business Case (FBC) in 
Exempt Appendix A.  

2. Approves the preferred option for a new Sport & Leisure Centre as detailed in 
the FBC.

3. Authorises the Corporate Head of Asset Management, subject to agreeing 
terms, to enter into a construction contract with Willmott Dixon Construction 
Ltd to build the Sport and Leisure Centre. 

4. Delegates to Head of Programme authority to;

a. agree terms for the Funding/ Collaboration agreement with the University of 
Winchester. 
b. to agree and enter into a contract with the Operator based upon the 
outcome in relation to facilities to be included within the management 
operation.

5. Subject to Council approval of the revised budget, approves the total capital 
expenditure and associated revenue consequences as detailed in Exempt 
Appendix A for the construction and associated costs of the Sport and Leisure 
Centre.

6. Authorises the Corporate Head of Asset Management to oversee the 
construction of the Sport and Leisure Centre on the Garrison Ground. 

Page 12



IMPLICATIONS:

1 COUNCIL STRATEGY OUTCOME 

1.1 This project supports the Health and Happiness outcome of the Council 
Strategy through the provision of new facilities to meet the needs of a broad 
cross section of our communities for now and in the future.

1.2 The Vision for the Sport and Leisure Centre is one that:

 Reflects sporting needs and aspirations for the people of our district
 Is flexible to provide for current and future sporting needs and trends
 Is deliverable and affordable
 Is in a park setting providing additional sporting and leisure 

opportunities
 Provides an excellent water based offer for community use

1.3 The objectives for this project are:

 To provide accessible public sport and leisure facilities to improve the 
health and happiness of the District’s residents

 To increase participation in sport and active recreation
 To improve the quality and energy efficiency of Winchester’s main 

leisure facility
 To provide a Sport and Leisure Centre that is financially sustainable

2 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

2.1 The proposed new Sport and Leisure Centre is estimated to provide the 
Council with an overall net surplus over its 40 year life and so produces a 
positive net impact on the General Fund when compared to the revenue costs 
of the existing leisure centre as well as producing a better financial position 
than extending the life of the existing centre.

2.2 However, due to the timing difference in incurring initial financing costs and 
receiving income from the operator, there will be a negative impact on the 
General Fund until an estimated annual surplus position is reached in 2030/31 
with the most significant deficits from 2020/21 to 2022/23. It will be necessary 
therefore to cover this deficit by using earmarked General Fund reserves; 
however, once a surplus position is reached, the Council can then elect to 
begin to replenish those reserves or increase spend on service expenditure 
elsewhere. 

2.3 The total cost of the leisure centre is being funded partly by external 
contributions with the majority funded by prudential borrowing. The detailed 
financial implications including the inflation and borrowing cost assumptions, 
total budget requirement and funding sources, and the impact on the General 
Fund are set out in the Full Business Case (FBC) at Exempt Appendix A.

Page 13



3 LEGAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 A funding/collaboration agreement with the University of Winchester (UoW) 
has yet to be concluded in relation to their financial contribution to the capital 
costs and management of the Sports Stadium. As there is no certainty until 
the Agreement is signed, the Business Case, which has been prepared, tests 
a Worst Case (assuming no involvement or contributions from the University 
of Winchester) and a Best Case scenario (ie a fully integrated facility and with 
contributions from the University of Winchester) based upon reaching an 
agreement with the UoW. The Council is working closely with the UoW to try 
to complete the Agreement and to achieve a fully integrated and managed 
facility at Bar End. 

3.2 An agreement has been signed with The Pinder Trust in relation to their 
financial contribution to the capital costs. Hampshire County Council has 
allocated their financial contribution to their capital programme and a process 
has been agreed as to how this money will be transferred to the Council.

3.3 The governance process for the new Sport and Leisure Park was agreed in 
November 2017. This process sets out the terms for the funding partners’ 
ongoing involvement in the project and aligns it with the Council’s decision 
making processes.  

3.4 The “agreements for leases” from the UoW will need to be agreed prior to, or 
simultaneously with, the completion of the contract for the construction of the 
facility and the management contract with the proposed Operator.  In addition 
to this the draft lease to the Operator will also need to be agreed with the 
UoW (if appropriate) and the Operator prior to the completion of the 
construction contract and the ‘Operator contract’.

4 WORKFORCE IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The staffing requirements for the project are continually reviewed to ensure 
effective and timely delivery. The nature and complexity of the project means 
that extra resources are being considered, particularly in relation to the legal 
aspects.

4.2 In terms of the staff at both River Park Leisure Centre (which will close when 
the new centre opens) and the Winchester Sports Stadium if required, they 
would transfer to any new contractor under the TUPE process. The existing 
list of staff to transfer was provided to all bidders as part of the leisure 
management procurement exercise. 

4.3 A key consideration in relation to this project is the supervisory roles for the 
construction of the new centre. As agreed by the Cabinet (Leisure Centre) 
Committee, a site supervisor has been appointed to work directly for the 
Council in order to ensure that the construction is being carried out in 
accordance with the design and specification. The Council’s Estates team will 
also have a key role in this process and Stride Treglown/LA architects has 

Page 14



been retained on the client side, as Technical Advisor, working for the Council 
throughout the construction stages.  

5 PROPERTY AND ASSET IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The existing River Park Leisure Centre (RPLC) needs to be maintained in 
good order until such time as a new Sport and Leisure Centre can be 
delivered and opened.  Any delays to the timetable for the delivery of a new 
Centre may lead to increased maintenance costs. The Council’s Estates 
Team is actively monitoring the condition of RPLC and undertaking any 
required works in the intervening period.  

6 CONSULTATION AND COMMUNICATION 

6.1 The engagement, listening and learning process to support the development 
of this project has been extensive and has allowed the project team to capture 
the aspects of leisure centre operation that are important to key groups and 
partners. 

7 ENVIRONMENTAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 One of the key objectives of the project is to deliver an EPC Grade A rating. 
The project will continue to be assessed against the BREEAM accreditation 
process.  

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSEMENT 

8.1 The facilities and services provided by the Operator must comply with the 
legislation relating to the Equality Act 2010. An equalities impact assessment 
is an ongoing process undertaken as part of the detailed design and 
engagement work of this project.

9 DATA PROTECTION IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

9.1 The operator will be required to work with the Council to agree a protocol 
regarding the sharing of data in line with the EU General Data Protection 
Regulation and the Data Protection Act 2018. This has been set out in the 
contract specification.

10 RISK MANAGEMENT 

10.1 The Project has a separate risk register which is managed by the Project 
Manager; see Appendix B. This report considers matters linked to risks 
associated around achieving a satisfactory Business Case. 

Page 15



10.2 Key risks include:

Main Risk Counter Measures

Construction delays
 Careful supervision
 Carrying out early accommodation works
 Careful programming and monitoring 

Start up on new 
operator 

 Good working relationship and agreed soft landings 
approach 

Construction cost 
increases

 Careful supervision
 Advanced level of detailed design and assessment  

undertaken
 2 stage design and build process 

Impact of 
construction on 
residents

 Production of Construction Management Plan 
 Considerate Contractor Scheme
 Good liaison with residents

Finished scheme 
does not match 
design 

 Appointment of NEC site supervisor 
 Retain LA architects and Hoare Lea (mechanical and 

electrical) as Technical Advisors. 

10.3 The main risk consideration of this report relates to achieving a satisfactory 
Full Business Case. The risks are greater in number and more complex 
because of the requirement to ensure that there is sufficient income from the 
facility to deliver a viable proposal whilst delivering a new centre which meets 
the needs and aspirations of users and sports groups and which is 
acceptable to local residents and statutory bodies. 

10.4 There are also other important risks and impacts related to the lifespan of the 
existing River Park Leisure Centre (RPLC).  These include the ongoing 
condition assessment and associated costs of required works in order to 
ensure that it remains safe and functional, along with the cost of heating and 
lighting an inefficient centre and the resultant environmental impact this has. 
The longer that the new Sport and Leisure Centre is delayed means that 
these risks and impacts will increase in terms of cost and reputation. 

10.5 The risk around the completion of the Funding/Collaboration Agreement with 
the University not having been completed has been mitigated by testing a 
range of scenarios associated with any associated financial payments in the 
Full Business Case. If, as is hoped, an Agreement is reached, these will only 
improve the financial position. 

11 SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

11.1 Following the approval of the agreed facility mix for the new Sport and 
Leisure Centre at Cabinet on 13 November 2017, The Sports Consultancy 
has finalised the financial model for the Full Business Case as set out below 
and in Exempt Appendix A. 

Page 16



11.2 The Full Business Case tests the development of a new Sport and Leisure 
Centre at Bar End reflecting total capital investment by Partners, as set out in 
Exempt Appendix A, with the remainder funded by prudential borrowing. The 
contribution from the University of Winchester is still subject to signing of a 
formal Funding/Collaboration Agreement. The Base Case model currently 
therefore assumes that this amount will also need to be funded by Prudential 
Borrowing. It is hoped that terms for this Agreement can be reached soon. 
This Agreement will determine two aspects both of which could be agreed 
independently.

o The management of the Winchester Sports Stadium within the overall 
Management Contract for the Sport and Leisure Centre operation

o A capital contribution in return for the use of certain facilities within the 
new Sport and Leisure Centre on a Wednesday afternoon

11.3 If the Full Business Case is approved the Council will be able to confirm the 
appointment of the preferred bidder for the leisure management contract and 
the construction contract with Willmott Dixon and progress to the 
implementation stage. It is important that these agreements are entered into 
simultaneously.

11.4 The Full Business Case has been produced using the HM Treasury “Five 
Case Model”. The approved format is the Five Case Model, which comprises 
the following key components:

 The strategic case section. This sets out the strategic context and the 
case for change, together with the supporting investment objectives for the 
scheme

 The economic case section. This demonstrates that the organisation has 
selected the choice for investment which best meets the existing and future 
needs of the service and optimises value for money (VFM)

 The commercial case section. This outlines the content and structure of 
the proposed deal

 The financial case section. This confirms funding arrangements and 
affordability and explains any impact on the balance sheet of the 
organisation

 The management case section. This demonstrates that the scheme is 
achievable and can be delivered successfully to cost, time and quality. 

11.5 The purpose of the Full Business Case is to consider the viability of the 
project against the project objectives based on all the information to date and 
to determine whether the new Sport and Leisure Centre is financially viable. 
It builds on the Outline Business Case that was completed in 2017. The 
Business Case takes account of the allowance of  ‘Income Benchmarking’ to 
offer the appointed Operator a degree of protection against being committed 
to paying a certain management fee over the life of the contract if factors 
occur such as economic or legislative impacts which are outside of their 

Page 17



control. It should be emphasised that this benchmarking provision is part of 
the Sport England template leisure management contract (which is the basis 
for the contract here) and reflects the current market position. Allowing this 
within the contract ensured that bidders remained interested in the 
opportunity and that the Council could achieve the required level of 
management fee. 

The controls in place for this process include:

 The process can only be implemented 5 years into the contract
 The operator cannot call for this process as a result of their net income 

being down due to poor performance
 It can only be triggered if the operator income is down by an agreed 

proportion of their profit as part of their bid e.g. 50%
 The operator has an obligation to mitigate any loss or decline in income 

prior to a benchmarking exercise
 A third party can be appointed if the Council and operator cannot agree 

to the management fee adjustment
 There is a process of dispute resolution if no agreement can be 

reached

12 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

12.1 The 4 main strategic objectives of this project are as follows:

 Objective 1: To provide accessible public sport and leisure facilities to 
improve the health and happiness of the District’s residents. 

 Objective 2: To increase participation in sport and active recreation. 

 Objective 3: To improve the quality and energy efficiency of 
Winchester’s main leisure facility.

 Objective 4: To provide a Sport and Leisure Centre that is financially 
sustainable.

12.2 See next section and Appendix A for details on how this project delivers 
these strategic objectives 

13 MEETING THE STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

13.1 Objective 1: To provide accessible public sport and leisure facilities to 
improve the health and happiness of the District’s residents. 

Will be delivered through

 A programme of activities to improve the health, fitness and wellbeing 
of the residents of the district

Page 18



 A facility that can meet the existing demand and (has the potential to 
expand) to meet the population growth.  An accessible location for the 
wider District’s residents as well as for town residents

 Providing a wider park setting which combines both leisure activity 
opportunity together with competition sports

 Providing integration with specialist facilities such as the Sports 
Stadium, the hydrotherapy centre and treatment rooms

 Providing a high standard, fully Sport England compliant facility 
allowing many different sports and leisure activities to take place

 Allowing for much greater participation in water based activities 
including learning to swim, training, gaining confidence, hydrotherapy 
and specialist areas such as triathlon training, many of which can take 
place at the same time due to the flexibly design water areas and 
facilities

 To allow for regional swimming events 
 Providing a wide range of facilities for those who have disabilities
 Providing a full range of accessible facilities and events for young 

people linked to school and college activities. 

13.2 Objective 2: To increase participation in sport and active recreation. 

Will be delivered through

 Provision of opportunities for people to reach their full potential in their 
chosen sport and leisure activity

 Improvement in the wellbeing of the local community through access to 
high quality sport and leisure facilities and foster partnerships with 
health organisations to achieve health outcomes 

 Provision of a centre of sport excellence encouraging wider 
participation in many sporting activities 

 Provision of a regional centre for water facilities, for sport , leisure and 
aquatic therapy

 Seeking to maximise the benefits from the existing facilities on the site 
including athletics and boxing 

 Provision of additional capacity for school based activities 

Further comment

13.3 The Full Business Case considers all aspects of the proposed development 
and it is important for the Council to be sure at this critical point in the project 
that this is the correct investment decision. In recognising that the Garrison 
Ground and King George V playing fields at Bar End already provides for 
sport and leisure use, the Council is considering the use of this space as a 
whole through a  Design Framework. The new Sport and Leisure Centre 
forms part of the longer term vision for a Winchester Sport and Leisure Park. 

13.4 Partnership working is essential to the delivery of this bold and ambitious 
development. The University of Winchester (UoW) subject to the agreement 

Page 19



of terms has indicated that they will make a capital investment into the 
project. The University of Winchester own and manage the adjacent Sports 
Stadium and are reviewing options as to whether the management of the 
Stadium will pass to the Operator of the new Leisure Centre or be provided 
by another route. In return for their capital investment the University would 
receive access to the sports hall, squash courts and the pool at the new 
Sport and Leisure Centre and on Wednesday afternoons for University sports 
fixtures and student usage The Pinder Trust and Hampshire County Council 
are making significant capital contributions, which have been confirmed, 
towards the delivery of the leisure centre. 

13.5 Extensive engagement has taken place with local clubs and residents who 
will benefit from this new major public sport and leisure facility in Winchester 
which firmly supports the Council Strategy objective to promote health and 
happiness and other aspirations in relation to being a Lower Carbon Council.

13.6 The unique aspects of the Winchester Sport and Leisure Park Project focus 
around the provision of a modern leisure facility with a 50m pool, which 
maximises the flexibility of water space for different water leisure uses and 
creates a facility for future use. This focus on water differentiates this facility 
from other centres in the area. An integrated hydrotherapy facility adds a 
special element to the centre enabling a range of therapeutic services to be 
offered in this community facility. 

13.7 This facility is coupled with the University of Winchester Sports Stadium and 
sits alongside open space and existing playing pitches. This combination of a 
modern centre in a Sport and Leisure Park setting provides for a compelling 
blend of facilities for residents of the district for both leisure and more 
competitive sporting activities.  

13.8 Objective 3: To improve the quality and energy efficiency of Winchester’s 
main leisure facility.

Will be delivered through

 A building with an EPC Grade A rating and BREEAM assessment
 Assessing the scheme against the BREEAM accreditation system 

Further comment

13.9 This is a key consideration and is integral to the design work. Setting this 
object at the start of the project has allowed this to be designed in from the 
outset. The appointed mechanical and electrical specialists along with the 
BREEAM consultant have been set the challenge of meeting these objects, 
led by the lead designer, and within the context of an affordable budget. 

Page 20



13.10 Objective 4: To provide a Sport and Leisure Centre that is financially 
sustainable.

Will be delivered through

 The centre is affordable and self-financing over the life of the asset

Further comment

13.11 Leading up to the approval of the facility mix in November a great deal of 
assessment and technical work was undertaken to bring forward a facility mix 
which:

I. Supports the project objectives

II. Meets assessed demand 

III. Reflects Sport England and Governing Bodies guidance 

IV. Provides a good balance of community and sporting facilities 
and which delivers a projected amount of income to support the 
ongoing costs of running and delivering the new centre. 

13.12 Based on the facility mix agreed on 13 November 2017, the capital costs of   
the proposed new leisure centre are set out in Exempt Appendix A, reflecting 
contributions from Partners organisations, leaving the remainder to be funded 
by the Council. It is proposed that £1.8m million is funded by Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the remainder through prudential borrowing.  
Borrowing costs have been taken into account in the financial appraisal.

13.13 The Financial Case concludes that building a new Sport and Leisure Centre 
on a like-for-like basis will result in a net financial surplus as set out in Exempt 
Appendix A over the 40 year life of the leisure centre and results in a better 
financial position than trying to keep the existing leisure centre operational for a 
further 40 years.

13.14 Due to the timing difference in incurring initial financing costs and receiving 
increasing income from the operator, there will be a negative impact on the 
General Fund until an estimated annual surplus position is reached in 2030/31 
with the most significant deficits from 2020/21 to 2022/23. It will be necessary 
therefore to cover this deficit by using earmarked General Fund reserves; once 
a surplus position is reached, the Council can then elect to begin to replenish 
those reserves or increase spend on service expenditure elsewhere.

13.15 The Council collects contributions from developers through Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the amounts due are calculated using the 
Council’s approved charging schedule.  The protocol for allocating CIL funds 
was agreed by Cabinet in June 2016 (CAB2807) and includes the development 
of a rolling 3 year programme of schemes (CAB2962 September 2017 refers).
 

Page 21



13.16 Cabinet has agreed in principle to date to allocate £1m of CIL funding 
towards the proposed Leisure Centre. An update report on CIL is due to be 
considered by Cabinet in February and will include this provision. 

14 PARTNER FUNDING

14.1 University of Winchester 

14.2 The University of Winchester (UoW) is a partner and subject to the 
agreement of terms intend to make a capital investment into the 
project and place their Sports Stadium into the partnership. 

14.3 In return for their investment the University will receive some free 
usage at certain times of the week.

14.4 Pinder Trust

14.5 The Pinder Trust is a key partner investing £1.2 million into the 
delivery of a hydrotherapy pool to allow access for treatment. The 
Pinder Trust is a grant giving charity established by the late 
Margaret Pinder and is devoted to supporting provision for 
hydrotherapy and physiotherapy to patients with long term health 
conditions.

14.6 The Pinder Trust has appointed a clinical physiotherapist, 
specialising in aquatic therapy, to help inform the design of the 
hydrotherapy suite. The Sports Consultancy has worked with local 
aquatic therapists to develop a financial appraisal of the 
hydrotherapy suite.  The Pinder Trust and their consultant will also 
help to inform the specification for the management operator.

14.7 The funding agreement has been signed with The Pinder Trust. 
The Pinder Trust is also actively fund raising in order to further help 
support the project. 

14.8 Hampshire County Council

14.9 The County Council has various land interests on the wider site and 
negotiations are underway to establish whether the County Council 
wish to include any land in the development of the Sport and 
Leisure Park. These negotiations will continue and are not time 
critical to decisions required in this paper.

14.10 The County Council have committed a capital investment in the project of £1 
million.

Page 22



15 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS

15.1 In order to deliver the project a core project team is in place to manage the 
project under the leadership of the Head of Programme who reports to the 
Director of Place as project sponsor and portfolio holder for Health and 
Wellbeing.  The Cabinet (Leisure Centre) Committee has been established to 
help guide the project and to make key decisions. 

15.2 The Governance Structure that was agreed by Cabinet in November 2017 
will allow the Council, and its Partners to work together to deliver and 
manage a new Sport and Leisure Centre.  

15.3 These governance arrangements and agreements propose that a Leisure 
Centre Advisory Board is established.  Once the centre is operational the 
Board will have day to day oversight of the contract and will give their advice 
and make their recommendations to the Cabinet (Leisure Centre) Committee 
for determination of required actions. 

16 GATEWAYS

16.1 The Business Case Gateways for this project are set out in the table below. 

Gateway RIBA Stage Evidence required 
(what will we know) 

1. Strategic Outline 
Case

End of RIBA Stage 1 In September 2015 
Cabinet was provided 
with a financial 
assessment of 
shortlisted options. At 
this stage Cabinet 
decided the preferred 
option, if feasible was to 
build at Bar End. 

2: Outline Business 
Case 
(Q4 2017) 

End of RIBA Stage 2 Estimated capital costs 
(CAPEX) 
Operating income 
estimate 
(both based on Concept 
Design) 

3: Full Business Case 
(Q1 2019) 

End of RIBA Stage 4 Generated capital costs 
(CAPEX) 
Operating income 
(both obtained by a 
procurement process) 

Page 23



17 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED

17.1 The Council could chose not to adopt the Full Business Case. Any delay 
would have significant cost implications. Should the Council not proceed with 
the Full Business Case then it is unlikely that the project can continue on the 
agreed timeline. 

17.2 The Sport and Leisure Centre project is at an important decision stage. The    
facility mix has been agreed and shown as viable within the Full Business 
Case. It is for Cabinet to consider whether to progress with this project at this 
time.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:-

Previous Committee Reports:-

CAB3081 (LC) – 14th January 2019 – Operator Procurement 

CAB3076 (LC) – 18th September 2018 – Project Update and Budget

CAB3068 (LC) – 25 July 2018 – Winchester Sport and Leisure Park – planning 
application consultation

CAB3067 (LC) – 25 July 2018 – Winchester Sport and Leisure Park – sports club 
and national governing bodies of sport - engagement

CAB3066 (LC) – 25 July 2018 – Winchester Sport and Leisure Park – response to 
notice of motion

CAB3031 – 6 June 2018 – Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Operator 
Procurement

CAB3035(LC) – 23 May 2018 – Approval of Design Framework

CAB3030(LC) - 26 March 2018 - Winchester Sport and Leisure Park Project Update

CAB2983(LC) – 16 January 2018 – Outline Business Case and associated 
Governance

 Other Background Documents:-

None 

APPENDICES:

 Exempt Appendix A – Full Business Case

 Appendix B  - Risk Matrix

Other Background Documents: None

Page 24



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case Risk Register Appendix B

Risk Register – Key:  

Likelihood Probability
Highly Unlikely 1% to 25% chance in 5 years
Unlikely 26% to 50% chance in 5 years
Likely 51% to 75% chance in 5 years
Highly Likely 76% to 100% chance in 5 years

Risk Proximity Score Time scale
1 Occurring within the next 3 months
2 Occurring within the next 6 months
3 Occurring within the next 1 year
4 Unlikely to occur within 1 year

Financial Impact Score Time scale
£ £1 – £20,000
££ £20,0001 - £200,000
£££ £200,001 - £2,000,000
££££ £2,000,001 plus

Likelihood Rating
It is unlikely that in many cases the probability of a risk occurring 
can be calculated in a statistically robust fashion as we do not 
have the data to do so. However, as an indicator, the likelihood is 
defined by the following probability of a risk occurring:

Risk Proximity
The score for risk proximity supports the Council in focusing on 
certain risks that may occur soon and ignore risks that will not 
occur in the near future. This enables risk management to be 
more efficient.
A number of between 1 and 4, where 1 means the risk is about to 
occur within the next 3 months and 4 means the risk is not likely 
to occur within the next year is provided.

Financial Impact
The financial impact to the Council is an important consideration, 
however this should be viewed alongside the likelihood of the risk 
occurring and not assumed to be inevitable.  
The scoring of the financial impact relates to the cost to the 
Council if that risk were to occur, however it should not relate to 
the cost of managing or mitigating the risk.
The financial impact is scored as highly likely it would be prudent 
for the Council to ensure that it has set aside an adequate 
financial provision.  The financial impact is scored as follows:

P
age 25



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 2

Impact Rating
The following table provides the definitions which should be used when determining whether a risk would have a Low, Moderate, Major or Significant impact

Low (1) Moderate (2) Major (3) Significant (4)

Financial Less than £20K £20k or over and less than 
£200K

£200K or over and less 
than- £2MK £2M plus

Service Provision No effect Slightly Reduced Service Suspended Short 
Term / reduced

Service Suspended Long 
Term

Statutory duties not 
delivered

Health & Safety Sticking Plaster / first aider
Broken bones/illness
Lost time, accident or 
occupational ill health

Loss of Life/Major illness – 
Major injury incl broken 

limbs/hospital admittance. 
Major ill health

Major loss of life/Large 
scale major illness

Morale Some hostile relationship 
and minor non cooperation Industrial action Mass staff leaving/Unable to 

attract staff

Reputation No media attention / minor 
letters

Adverse Local media 
Leader Adverse National publicity Remembered for years

Govt relations One off single complaint Poor Assessment(s) Service taken over 
temporarily

Service taken over 
permanently

P
age 26



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 3

Risk Number:  1 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Project is not financially viable

Current Risk Score
Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Full Business Case  gateway does not 
confirm that project is financially viable.

The management fee proposed by the 
potential operator and/or the cost of 
construction are not in line with current 
estimates
Significant and unforeseeable change in 
external financial/macro economic position                  

(“Viable” =  that the annualised cost of the 
project to the Council based on the 
preferred facility mix is sufficiently close to 
the income expected to be generated from 
a management contract in relation to be a 
sustainable investment). 

Project is halted for 
review of underlying 
assumptions.  Revisions 
are tested and agreed.  
Project recommences on 
revised brief, timetable 
and cost estimate.

Tendered figures for operator management 
fee and construction cost inputted to Full 
Buisness Case 

Significant
(4)

1 ££££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Cabinet Committee will make key decisions in line with project plan.  
Decisions requiring approval of full Council under the Constitution will 
be referred accordingly.  Regular reporting on progress will be made.

Feb 2019 Highly Unlikely 
(Probability 1% - 25%)

Significant
(4)

P
age 27



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 4

Risk Number:  2 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Absence of financial support from project partners

Current Risk Score

Causes Consequences Current Controls
Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

External grants and partner funding does 
not materialise or offers withdrawn 
because Council cannot meet funders’
requirements

Project could be 
rendered nonviable by 
increasing Council 
proportion of cost. 
Review project as in R1.

Continue negotiations with partner 
organisations and external funders.  

Signed Partner/Funding agreements in place. 

Significant
(4)

2 ££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Translation of negotiated arrangement into legal documentation.  
Continue Financial appraisal of contribution’s value to the scheme vs 
financial contribution.

Feb 2019 Highly Unlikely
(Probability 1% - 25%)

Significant
(4)

P
age 28



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 5

Risk Number:  3 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Council unable to recover VAT on construction costs

Current Risk Score

Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Project and governance structure means 
that Council unable to recover VAT 
incurred on construction costs.

The project cost would 
increase significantly 
and possibly become
non-viable or show
major overspend if
HMRC refuses
claims.

Obtain best available VAT advice at 
appropriate stages and before decision 
making.  Reflect VAT advice in negotiations 
with funding partners.

Unlikely
(Probability 
26% - 50%)

Significant
(4)

1 ££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Advice reflected in decisions taken, advice obtained and utilised. Spring 2019 Highly Unlikely
(Probability 1% - 25%)

Major
(3)

P
age 29



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 6

Risk Number:  4 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Stakeholders expectations on pricing and usage not met

Current Risk Score

Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Pricing and usage strategy necessary to 
create viable project is not in line with 
stakeholder expectations.
i.e. hire charges for club use, membership 
levels etc.

Business Case and 
procurement of operator 
specification may need 
to be reviewed if Council 
wishes to alter pricing 
and usage strategy.

Maintain dialogue with main users and early 
enagagemnt with appointed operator 

Moderate
(2)

2 £

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Dialogue with likely user groups.  Ongoing through construction process Unlikely
(Probability 26% - 50%)

Low
(1)

P
age 30



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 7

Risk Number:  5 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Project delivery delayed

Current Risk Score

Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Delay in programme/ delivery and 
resulting cost implications and or building 
not delivered to required standards. . 

Potential for project 
delay due to a number 
of potential factors. 

This could also include 
the delivery of 
associated mitigation, 
accommodation or 
facilitating works.

The quality of the design 
may not be reflected in 
the quality of the 
construction. 

Mace appointed as project managers and 
cost consultants.

LA architects retained as Technical Advisor

The Council has appointed a Site Supervisor 
to oversee and monitor the works

The Council’s Estates team will help to 
ensure that works are progressed in 
accordance with the design and specification. 

Unlikely
(Probability 
26% - 50%)

Major
(3)

1 ££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

P
age 31



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 8

Risk Number:  6 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Unexpected costs arise for keeping River Park Leisure Centre open

Current Risk Score

Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Unexpected costs arise for keeping 
existing River Park Leisure Centre (RPLC) 
open

Rising financial costs to 
keep RPLC open and 
running may require 
difficult decisions 
between additional 
capital expenditure and 
facility availability 
depending on scale. 
Expenditure on RPLC 
depletes reserves.

Monitor condition of existing facility 
carefully. 

Allow some contingency in budget planning 
if possible. Identify, approve & monitor 
maintenance costs.

Unlikely
(Probability 
26% - 50%)

Moderate-
Major
(2/3)

3 ££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Keep building condition under review.  Will remain a risk until RPLC 
closes.  The 2018/19 capital programme includes a budget to 
undertake essential capital works required to extend the life of RPLC.

N/A Unlikely
(Probability 26% - 50%)

Moderate
(2)

P
age 32



Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre Project – Full Business Case  Risk Register

Page 9

Risk Number:  7 Risk Owner:  Project Executive

Risk Title:  Legal challenges are raised

Current Risk Score
Causes Consequences Current Controls

Likelihood Impact

Risk
Proximity

Financial 
impact

Legal challenges to any aspect of decision 
making and or procurement.

If legal challenges are 
successful the project is 
halted.
If unsuccessful - a delay 
in the development and 
additional costs  to the 
project which may 
render it unviable.

Ensure any legal challenges can be 
mitigated by obtaining expert advice and 
evidence to guide and inform processes.
Raise awareness of implications of delay.

Unlikely
(Probability 
26% - 50%)

Significant
(4)

3 ££

Residual Risk ScoreFurther actions? Target Date
Likelihood Impact

Continue to obtain expert advice on procurement and to inform 
decision making

N/A Unlikely
(Probability 26% - 50%)

Major
(3)

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 35

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 37

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 January 2019, less exempt minute
	6 Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre - Full Business Case (less exempt appendix)
	CAB3082(LC) Appendix B

	9 Exempt minute of the previous meeting held 14 January 2019
	10 Winchester Sport and Leisure Centre - Full Business Case (exempt appendix)

